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A Message from the Chief

As we celebrate our Fire Division’s 200 years of service to the Lebanon community, we take the time to 
recognize all of the dedicated efforts of every member who has served to protect our community, and 
reflect on our rich history and its impact on our goals for the future.

We are excited to share this celebration with the community to commemorate our 
past and look ahead to the future with much optimism.  We continue to take major 
steps to build on our core mission to meet and exceed the community’s needs and 
expectations by providing quality responsive services to fire suppression, rescue, fire 
prevention, education, life safety, and emergency medical services while promoting 
strong community values in an organized team approach.

As we look ahead, we will continue to strengthen our commitment to serving the 
community with our core values of quality, integrity, strong stewardship, innovation, and 
teamwork.

Thank you for sharing the excitement of this special Bicentennial of the Lebanon Fire 
Division, 1815-2015.

Chief Perry Gerome
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1815 - Present

1815 The first provision for extinguishing fires in Lebanon was the organization of the citizens into a fire-bucket 
brigade. In the event of a fire, every household had a duty to respond, without delay, with his bucket to the 
fire and assist in extinguishing it. Females were exempted. An ordinance was passed requiring the citizens 
to procure fire buckets. The fire bucket was to be made of good and sufficient sole leather, 13 inches high 
and the diameter at the top was to be nine inches. The owner’s initials were painted on one the side of the 
bucket. It was to be kept by the owner (or his tenant) in the most convenient place in each house, or store, 
in case of a fire or other emergency.

1828 Lebanon’s first hand pumper, The Minnow, was purchased. It was described of rude 
construction consisting of a force pump for throwing water placed in a box about four 
feet long, three feet wide and two feet deep, mounted on four wooden wheels. The water 
was thrown in the box by a line of men, with their leather fire buckets, extending from 
the nearest supply. From the box, the water was pumped by hand and thrown on the fire. 
This engine could be drawn along the pavement and lifted over obstructions.

1835 A second hand pumper, The Whale, was purchased. It was a side-bar suction pump that 
was large and cumbersome. The pumper was purchased in Cincinnati for $1,400.00. 
Although newer, it was claimed that the Minnow usually arrived first on the scene at a 
fire.

1836 An ordinance was passed on February 4, 1836 organizing a fire department, consisting of three divisions: The Engine 
and Hose Company, the Hook and Ladder Company and the Bucket Company. The ordinance also provided for the 
election of one chief engineer, first and second assistant engineers, and three fire wardens. Each division was allowed to 
elect its own officers. A tax levy was passed the same year for the purchase of a new fire engine.

On February 5, 1836, a $300 reward was offered for the capture of incendiaries. The citizens of Lebanon feared reckless 
and daring incendiaries were determined to spread ruin and devastation in the village. The citizens offered a reward for 
the arrest and conviction of who may attempt to torch the town.



1849 In 1849, the Franklin Fire Company was organized. The constitution of the organization listed its name as The 
Franklin Fire Engine and Hose Company, but when it was incorporated (1850-1851) the name was recorded 
as The Independent Fire Company of Lebanon, Ohio. During the period when the Independent Fire Company 
was operating, their active members were exempt from military duty during time of peace, jury duty, and from 
performance of labor on public highways. The charter members named in the Act of Incorporation were: John 
Cretors, John Hardy, Alfred Howell, Alfred Hawn, Jacob McCauley, W. H. Hart, and W. L. Youse. The were 117 total 
number of members in the first three years. Over a fifty-year period, the number reached 410.

The same year, the company’s third hand pumper, The Franklin, was purchased. It was a two-stream suction 
engine with two sets of brakes, one above the other. The engine was used until the commencement of the Civil 
War, when it was sold to the Village of Franklin.

On July 4, 1850, The Franklin Fire Company organized a Tea Party at the Court House to raise funds for the 
purchase of a new engine. The ticket prices for the party and dinner were: One gentleman, .50 cents; Gentleman 
and a lady $1.00; Gentleman and two ladies, $1.25; Ice cream and oranges cost extra.

1850

1861

Washington Hall was built in 1856, at the 
southwest corner of Silver and Mechanic streets. 
The Village of Lebanon built a new market house 
with quarters for the fire department. This is 
the first known firehouse and it housed the 
Franklin Independent Fire Company. The Franklin 
Independent Fire Company dedicated the new hall, 
Washington Hall, with a festival on the evening of 
December 24, 1856.

In April of 1882, Washington Hall was remodeled 
so that the fire department could use the entire 
ground floor. It remained an active firehouse until 
1921, when the fire department was moved to the 
Lebanon Opera House.

1856

Washington Hall, circa 1905. From left to right are: Dan Osborn, fire wagon 
driver; Harry Hill, Will Fraser, Fred James, Tom Fraser, Ed Horner, Bud Drill, 
and Fred Schwartz.

In 1861, the fourth hand pumper Union #1, 
nicknamed, The Squirrel Tale, was purchased from 
Breton & Blake at Waterford, NY for $920. The 
pumper was lost in a fire while being stored at Fort 
Ancient.



In 1871, Lebanon’s first steam fire engine, The Belle of the West, was purchased from 
Selsby Manufacturing Company, of Seneca Falls, NY for a total cost was $6,918.00, 
which included the engine for $6,800, hose cart for $300, and 1,000 feet of hose for 
$1500. The freight was $68.50.

On September 1, 1874, Lebanon’s first disastrous fire occurred. It destroyed the Town 
Hall, Congregational Church, Ross Hotel and other buildings.

In 1875, the fire bell at Washington Hall was replaced with a new, larger bell that was 
easier to hear.  That same year, on December 27, a special council session was held to 
consider the best methods of suppressing incendiarism, with which Lebanon had been 
“annoyed” during the last year. The Mayor was instructed to offer a reward of $500 
for the apprehension and conviction of a person or persons who occasioned any of the 
stable fires in 1875.

In 1879, council considered a new firehouse location. A lot at the SW corner of Silver and High streets was chosen; but, 
before it was purchased, Henry J. Greathouse and his wife Matilda deeded the lot of the Orient Fire Station. The Orient
Fire House was built at a cost of $1,640.00. It was operational until 1934. This new firehouse created a second fire company. 
A friendly rivalry developed between the upper (Orient) Company and the lower (Washington Hall) Company and lasted into 
the next century.

On February 15, 1887, an Ahrens-Fox Steamer Fire Engine was purchased to replace the Belle of the West. More men were 
required for operation and maintenance, increasing the size of the fire fighting force. To pay for this new Ahrens-Fox steamer, 
the Belle of the West was taken in trade, plus six bonds of $500 were issued and sold. After a water works system was 
installed in Lebanon (1897), this new steam pumper was no longer needed. It was stored for a few years and then sold to the 
Ahrens-Fox Company for $150. The $150 received from its sale was used to purchase new screw type connections for hose. 
The old hose reels were used until about 1906, when horse drawn equipment replaced them.

In 1906, a fire wagon was purchased. The same horses used to pull the fire wagon were also hitched to a garbage and ash 
wagon and used all over town to collect town trash. When the fire bell sounded they were ready to dash to the firehouse. 
They simply would be unhitched, lead across the street and put under a harness that was hung on hangers. All that was 
needed was to grab the horse collars and pull them down, snap the collars, hook the reins and belly band and they were on 
the run. The horses, named Frank and Tom, could really take off.

In 1921, The Oregonia Bridge Company was authorized to prepare plans and specifications for remodeling the East Room of 
the Opera House. The Fire Department would be transferred from Washington Hall to the Opera House. The Opera House was 
located where our current City Building is today.

In 1925, motorized equipment succeeded the horse drawn equipment. After discussion and debate, two gasoline driven 
units were purchased. One consisted of a Winther Chassis with a hose bed and two reels of small hose connected to a pair of 
chemical tanks. The second outfit was a pumper made by Peter Persch Company. This truck had a hose bed and reel of small
booster hose. The outfit cost $9,000.00.

On December 25, 1932, fire destroyed the Opera House. Lebanon’s current City Building was built in 1934 to replace it.

1871
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On July 8, 1935, a barn caught fire at 10:00 a.m. at the end of South Street. After answering the call, Milo Merrill 
passed away from heart failure while running to the Orient Fire House.

On April 26, 1937, council accepted a $7,125 bid from the Ahrens-Fox Company 
for a new pumper fire apparatus. The new pumper was described as a 600-gallon 
automobile triple combination rotary type pumping engine with hose car and 
booster equipment that could carry 1,000 to 1,500 feet of hose. 

In 1946, the Fire Chief made a recommendation to replace the obsolete Chemical Truck with High Pressure Vapor 
equipment. In 1947, the Bean Car Company was awarded a bid for $7,531 for a Dodge Truck and an International 
Truck.

January 20, 1953, approval was given for the purchase of two way radio/installation for the fire truck and a motion 
was made by council for Mutual Aid. The Fire Chief was notified that fire equipment should not go outside the 
boundaries of Turtlecreek Township. The charge for mutual aid was set at $100 for the first hour and $50 per hour 
for each additional hour of response.

That same year, all firemen were put on private telephone lines. A system was arranged so that when a call was 
received at the Police Station, the dispatcher could press a button and every fireman’s phone would ring. The 
fireman would then be told the location of the fire.

In 1955, as the number of calls to countryside fires increased, it was necessary to have more equipment to 
properly protect the town when a countryside run was being made. To meet this demand, Turtlecreek Township 
trustees purchased a Seagrave pumper for countryside runs. It was manned by 3-4 men of the Lebanon Fire 
Department and was housed in the downtown firehouse. The pumper cost $16,000.

On September 23, 1956, a fire broke out at the Soft Water Laundry on South Broadway. Firefighter Roy Yinger was 
overcome with smoke and fell over while rolling up fire hose. In August of the next year, the First Aid Truck made 
its first run.

On April 24, 1965, the ground breaking ceremony was held for the Police and Fire Safety Building, on West Silver 
Street. Construction of the new Fire Department was financed with funds provided by a tax levy. This was the fire 
department’s new location, until Station 41 is built.

In 1984, the City of Lebanon purchased the Lebanon Laundry Building, at 20 West Silver Street, for $72,000. It 
was renovated into current Station 41. The cost for the renovation was $210,000. The station went online on July 
2, 1985.

In 2005, Station 42, at 3116 Lebanon Road, was dedicated. Stations 41 & 42 are the current fire stations for the 
City of Lebanon.
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& Designate Fire Alarm Signals
1) Be it ordained by the Council of the Incorporated Village of Lebanon Ohio, that the said 
Village of Lebanon is hereby divided into fire districts, by certain lines herein described, and 
that the districts so divided shall be designated by members beginning at the south west 
corner of the Incorporated.

2) The baseline on the west shall be the west line of the Incorporated. The second
line running northwardly shall be the center line of Water Street and its extension.
The third line running northwardly shall be the center of Broadway. The fourth line running 
northwardly shall be the center of Cherry Street. The fifth line running northwardly shall 
be the center of High Street and it’s extension. The sixth line running northwardly shall be 
the center of Mound Street. The last line running northwardly shall be the east side of the 
Incorporation.

The south base line running east shall be at the south side of the Incorporation. The second 
line running eastwardly shall be at the channel of Turtle Creek. The third line running east 
shall be at the center of Main Street. The fourth line running east shall be at the center of 
Silver Street and its extensions. The fifth line running east shall be at the center of Pleasant 
Street and its extensions.

3) The districts divided by lines designated in Section 2 shall be designated by members 
of two figures. The first figure shall show the number of the district, east of the west base 
line.

4) When a fire shall occur, the alarm shall be given in the usual manner for not less
than twenty strokes of the fire bell, after which the location of the location of the fire shall 
be designated by ringing the number of the district, in which the fire occurs, giving the full 
number three times with intervening spaces of about five seconds between the figures and 
about ten seconds between the full number.

5) When a fire is extinguished it shall be the duty of the acting Chief of the Fire Department 
to designate that fact as soon as possible by causing the “out” signal of three taps to be 
rung three times on the alarm bell of the Central Station of Washington Hall.

6) This ordinance shall take effect at the earliest period allowed by law.
** Ordinance passed January 5, 1897. Mayor M. E. Gustin.



William A. Coyne 
Dates Unknown

Fred Bone
Dates Unknown

Ford J. Schwarts
Appointed January 15, 1908

William J. Pflanzer
Appointed in 1910 - Resigned on January 8, 1935

William H. Fulkerth
Appointed on January 8, 1935 to January 21, 1936
(Filled Chief Pflanzer’s unexpired term)

Clarence V. Dunham
Appointed on January 21, 1936 to January 6, 1959

Dick Brant
Appointed January 6, 1959 to 1963

William Rainey
1963 to 1973

Jim Thornberry
1973 to 1975

Jerry Crisp
1975 to 1982

Michael T. Hannigan
Appointed July 1, 1984 to March 7, 2014

Perry Gerome
Appointed March 7, 2014 to present

Lebanon 
Firefighters

Killed in the 
Line of Duty

Obe Bundy 
August 20, 1892

Mr. Bundy was overcome 
with smoke or had a heart 
attack during a fire at the 

Gilchrist house, on the corner 
of  roadway and Warren 

streets.

Milo Merrill 
July 8, 1935

Mr. Merrill passed away from 
heart failure when answering 
the call to Warwick’s barn at 
the end of South Street, as 

he was running to the Orient 
Fire House.

Roy Yinger
September 23, 1956

Mr. Yinger was overcome with 
smoke, while rolling hose at 
the Soft Water Laundry fire 

on S. Broadway.

Fire Chiefs
Retirement Party for 
Fire Chief Clarence 
Dunham.  Photo 
taken by Herb 
Schwartz.

Retirement of 
Fire Chief William 

Rainey. Photo taken 
by Herb Schwartz.

Retirement of Fire 
Chief Michael T. 
Hannigan.  Pictured 
(left to right) 
Chief Michael T. 
Hannigan, City 
Manager Pat 
Clements, and 
current Fire Chief 
Perry Gerome.
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1856 - Present

Washington Hall Firehouse: 1856 to 1921
Washington Hall was built in 1856, at the southwest corner of Silver and Mechanic streets. The village of 
Lebanon built a new market house with quarters for the fire department. This is the first known firehouse and 
it housed the Franklin Independent Fire Company. In April of 1882, Washington Hall was remodeled so that 
the fire department could use the entire ground floor. It remained an active firehouse until 1921, when the fire 
department was moved to the Lebanon Opera House.

The Orient Firehouse: 1879 to 1934
In 1879, a new location for a new firehouse was considered. Henry and Matilda 
Greathouse deeded the lot at 425 E. Mulberry Street and specified that the lot be used for fire purposes only. The 
Greathouse family was active in the fire community, and at one time seven sons were members of the hand pumper 
company. A daughter of Levi Greathouse, recalled that as a girl she would watch her father climb the tower in the 
Orient Fire House and hang hose so that it would dry out. The Orient Firehouse was built and the Orient Fire Company 
was created. With two fire companies now in Lebanon, a friendly rivalry was created. The Orient Fire Company fought 
its first fire on April 12, 1875, and showed itself to be truly in earnest in wanting to help the other fire companies. It 
closed in 1934.

The Lebanon Opera House: 1921 to 1932
The Lebanon Opera House was located at the northeast corner of Broadway and Main streets. In 1921, the 
Oregonia Bridge Company was authorized to prepare plans and specifications for remodeling the East Room 
of the Opera House for transferring the Fire Department from Washington Hall to this location. When the fire 
department moved from Washington Hall to the Opera House, the name changed to Fire Company 1. In 1921, 
council discussed at great length to erect a tower and placing a fire bell on the Opera House. This plan was 
altered and a fire whistle was installed instead on the new Electric Light Plant. In 1928, Chief Pflanzer made 
a report that his department was well manned and drilled to their duty and the equipment was kept in first 
class condition and ready to respond to service. The department had 3,100 feet of hose, 1,700 feet of hose at 
Fire Co. 1 and 1,400 feet of hose at the Orient. On December 25, 1932, an early morning fire destroyed the 
Lebanon Opera House. Lebanon’s current City Building was built to replace the Opera House.



The Lebanon City Building: 1934 to 1965
After the Lebanon Opera house was destroyed in a fire on December 25, 1932, Lebanon’s 
current City Building located at 50 South Broadway was built to replace it in 1934, and the fire 
department was also located in the new building. In November of 1934, a phone line was installed 
to the fire department and in July 1943, a sign reading “The Lebanon Fire Department” was 
placed above the door on East Main Street. This location housed the Lebanon Fire Department 
until 1965, when a new station was built on West Silver Street.

Public Safety Building: 1965 to 1985
On April 24, 1965, the ground breaking ceremony for the 
Police and Fire Safety Building on West Silver Street was 
held. The construction of the new Fire station, with four 
bays, was financed with funds provided by a tax levy. This was the 
fire departments location, until Station 41 was built.

Station 41
1985 to Present
In 1984, the City of Lebanon 
purchased the Lebanon Laundry 
Building at 20 W. Silver Street for 
$72,000. It was renovated into the 
current Station 41. The cost for 
the renovation was $210,000. The 
station went online on July 2, 1985.

Station 42
2005 to Present
In 2000, the City of Lebanon 
purchased the former Novak 
Construction building and land 
for $600,000. The building was 
renovated and the station went 
online in 2005.
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Lebanon Fires

Home of J.W. Williams
Written by Harry Hill, from his book “History of City of Lebanon’s Fire Departments 1815 to 1965”

The first fire of note was at the home of J.W. Williams, on Monday, April 20, 1846. This house is now the Glendower Museum. The house would 
have burned to the ground but for the efficient work of Firemen and citizens.

First Town Hall Fire, at Broadway and Main Streets
Written by Harry Hill, from his book “History of City of Lebanon’s Fire Departments 1815 to 1965”

At 12:30 am, on September 1, 1874, an alarm was received. Fire had started in a livery stable located where the City Building Parking lot is now. 
It spread to the Congregational Church and Town Hall. Hose was laid and a steamer was hooked to a cistern at the corner of Main and Broadway. 
A fireman soon had a stream of water playing on the rear of the church. After a few minutes they had a second line going. About that time, word 
came that the cistern was out of water, so they moved to Broadway and Mulberry. After 8-10 minutes, they had a steady stream until the cistern 
ran out of water and they moved again to Broadway and Silver Streets. The Belle of the West was sending water to the fire. This cistern was soon 
exhausted and the next move was to the creek. Imagine the hard work to took to have to keep moving from one cistern to another, stretching out 
the old-time leather hose each time they had to move. This leather was difficult to handle. The fire was brought somewhat under control at 4:30 
am. They cut down to one line of hose and continued to throw water upon the flames until 10:00 am. For fighting the fire for almost ten hours, 
great praise was expressed for both the men and the Belle of the West pumper. Consumed in the fire were the Town Hall, Congregational Church, 
Ross Hotel, Braden Barn, Ross Barn, Ross residence and several other barns and sheds where the parking lot is now located.

The Lebanon Opera House Fire
Written by John J. Zimkus from his book “From Ashes to Ashes: The Rise and Fall of the Lebanon Opera House”

The Opera House was built to replace the Lebanon Town Hall. No one knew at the time, that a similar fate awaited it. On December 25, 1932 at 
3:40 in the morning, the Opera House was on fire. That Sunday morning, Officer Grant Shaffer, Lebanon’s police night watchman, saw smoke
pouring out of the building. Meanwhile, 37 year old U.S. Congressman Charles Franklin West was arriving into town to spend Christmas with 
relatives. As he drove into Lebanon from the east, he noticed an odd refection in the opera house windows and soon realized it was fire. Both men 
simultaneously ran in into The Canteen. They told Clark South, who was in the Canteen to call the fire department when they all heard the fire 
siren. It seems just moments before, John Pluckett, fireman at the village power plant, left the plant to empty some ashes when he noticed flames 
at the rear of the Opera House and immediately sounded the alarm. 

Lebanon’s fire department responded at once. Fire Chief Pflanzer quickly realized that saving the building was nearly impossible. Keeping the fire 
from spreading would be the issue. The Mason and Franklin departments were called for assistance, and arrived within one-half hour. The flames 



were first confined to the east end of the building where the stage was located. Shortly however, the west side was consumed by the blaze. There 
the balcony gave way first and was followed by the auditorium floor. All the motion picture apparatus owned by Law and Blair, operators of the 
theater for 15 years, was soon lost. The flames rapidly worked their way up and down to the front staircase, and soon engulfed the town clock 
tower. 

Nearly 2,000 people gathered at a safe distance early that Christmas morning to witness the horrific fire destroy their historic town hall. By 5:30 
am the fire was under control but the Lebanon Opera House was gone. The source of this devastation was arson. Investigators thought there was 
an unnatural spread of flames at the outset of the fire. It is also believed that the movie film shown that night was used to ignite the fire. Every 
evening after the movie was played in the Opera House Theater, the highly flammable nitrate film, four times more flammable than paper, was 
stored in a fireproof box lined with asbestos in the projection booth. After the Opera House fire, all 12-scorched film reels were found outside of 
that box. Ironically, two reels were found in the main Lebanon Fire Station, which was housed in the east side of the structure. The arsonist was 
never caught. 

The final film ever shown at the Lebanon Opera House that Christmas Eve, Saturday, December 24, 1932, and the item that was literally used to 
ignite the great conflagration, was prophetically titled “Hot Saturday”. It was a 1932 Paramount romantic drama. In a nightclub scene, in the film, a 
song is sung called “Burning for You.” The song begins with the lines, “Open all the windows. Turn the fan on too. I’m in a daze. I’m in a blaze. I’m 
burning for you. Call the fire engine. Hand the hose on through. Tell them all to hurry ‘cause I’m burning for you.”

A Look at Some Lebanon Fires

Fire at home of Lee Stokes on West 
Silver Street.

Johnson Lumber Fire in 1947 located 
at the current site of the Lebanon 

Police Department.

Sperry Rand Fire
May 26, 1970

Monk “Coyne” FireSoft Water Laundry Fire
 September 23, 1956
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Historical to Modern Day

Ladder Wagon on Parade Hose Wagon on Parade Hand Pumper on Parade

Chem Tak International Chemical Truck

1962 Pirsch Fire Engine 1973 Miller- Meteor Ambulance & Used Army 
Vehicle refurbished into a Rescue Truck

1970 Ford Fire Engine



1992 Seagrave Ladder Truck

2008 Pierce Arrow XT Fire Engine

2015 Fleet

2002 Ford F-550 Tactical Support2012 International-Horton Ambulance 2014 International-Horton Ambulance
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